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practice, or procedure has been submitted by the chief legal
officer or other appropriate official of the County to the
Attorney General of the United States and the Attorney General
has not interposed an objection within sixty days after such
submission, except that neither this Court’s findings nor the
Attorney General'’s failure to object shall bar a subsequent
action to enjoin enforcement of such qualification, prerequisite,

standard, practice or procedure.

2. Changes affecting the method of electing the Los Angeles
County Board of Supervisors as contemplated by this Order would
ihcludef by way of example, any of the following changes: a)
redistricting or other change in the boundaries of the
subervisorial districts or constituency of supervisors; b) change
in number of members of the board of supervisors; c) change in
method of determining the outcome of a supervisor election, e.q.,
by requiring a plurality vote; d) change in the eligibility of
persons to become or remain a candidate for supervisor; e) change
in the term of office of a supervisor, e.g., by shortening or
lengthening the term, by changihg the numbering of the districts
so as to affect the election schedule, or by limiting the number
of terms a person can serve as supervisor; f) change in the
necessity of or methods for offering issues and propositions for
approval by referendum related to the method of electing the
board of supervisors; g) change in the meﬁhod of filling

vacancies on the board of supervisors; and h) change in the rules
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or procedures authorizing or governing the supervisorial
redistricting process.

3. Changes affecting voting precinct boundaries, polling
place locations, or the times and places for voter registration
are not affected by the terms of this Order.

4. 1In the event that the defendants submit é change
affecting the method of electing the board of supervisors to the
Attorney General of the United States ?or review pursuant to this
Order, the submission shall be governed by the Procedures for the
Administration of Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, as

amended, 28 C.F.R. 51.1 et seqg. (1990), and any successor

regulations.
S. As related to the method of electing the Los Angeles

County Board of Supervisors, this Order does not change any
voting qualification, prerequisite to voting or standard,
practice or procedure with respect to voting in force or effect
on November 14, 1990, except to the extent that paragraph 6 of
this Order may be cﬁnsidered a modification of state law or the
Charter of the County of Los Angeles.

6. For any redistricting plan covered by paragraph 1 of
this Order, the period of time involved in seeking and obtaining
a ruling on the merits of the plan pursuant to this Order from
the Attorney General of the United States or this Court,
whichever ruling occurs first, shall not be counted in
determining whether the deadline for the adjustment of boundaries

of supervisorial districts under state law, e.g., California
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Elections Code §§35001-35002, or the Charter of the County of Los

Angeles, e.g., Article II, Section 7, has been satisfied.
7. Ppursuant to Section 3(c), 42 U.S.C. 1973a(c), this Court

shall retain jurisdiction of this action until December 31, 2002.

The terms of the above stipulation are approved.

IT IS SO ORDERED
Done this 25 day of a0 , 1991 DAVID V. KENYON
_v 4

DAVID V. KENYON
United States District Judge

Respectfully submitted,
DATED: L /7, /99¢

LOURDES G. BAIRD JOHN R. DUNNE,

United States Attorney Assistant Attorney General
GERALD W. JONES
STEVEN H. ROSENBAUM
SHEILA K. DELANEY
ROBERT S. BERMAN
ROBERT A. KENGLE
GAYE L. HUME

DATED: Qp,w(" 1 ¥ /55 RICHARD P. FAJARDO

I N . JUDITH A. SANDERS-CASTRO
VIBIANA ANDRADE
ANTONIA HERNANDEZ

Mexican American Legal Defense
and Education Fund
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MARK D. ROSENBAUM

PAUL L. HOFFMAN

ACLU Foundation of Southern
california

DOUGLAS E. MIRELL
STEVEN I. BENSON
Loeb and Loeb

JOAQUIN G. AVILA
Of Counsel
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cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft
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Exhibit G

Professor Ernesto Chavez

Report



Report of Ernesto Chavez

I am a faculty member in the Department of History at the University of Texas at
El Paso. I have held this position since receiving my Ph.D. degree in United States
history from the University of California, Los Angeles in 1994. I am currently Associate
Professor of History. My research and teaching focuses on the history of Mexican
Americans in California and the nation. My most recent essay, to be published in the
Journal of the History of Sexuality in fall 2011, focuses on the construction of silent film
actor Ramén Novarro’s star image. I have authored two books, three articles, five essays,
and two review essays dealing with Latinos in U.S. society. My books entitled, ;Mi Raza
Primero! (My People First!): Nationalism, Identity, and Insurgency in the Chicano
Movement in Los Angeles, 1966-1978 and The U.S. War with Mexico: A Brief History
with Document include much information relevant to this case. Both of these books
examine the history of discrimination against Mexican Americans. My current project, a
biography of silent film star Ramoén Novarro, is not only concerned with the life of this
actor, but also with the discrimination that he and his fellow ethnic Mexicans faced in
Los Angeles from the 1910s to the 1960s. I attach a copy of my curriculum vitae.

As a U.S. historian, [ am familiar with the provisions of the Voting Rights Act.
Although I currently reside in Texas, I am a native of Los Angeles, having been raised in
the City Terrace neighborhood of East Los Angeles, an unincorporated section of Los
Angeles County. My parents continue to live in this area and I spend my summers there.
As a historian [ have consulted the principle historical writings related to the experiences
of Mexican Americans over time. My past and current work focuses on the ethnic

Mexican community in the United States, particularly in the Los Angeles region. The



research for my books and article, as is this report, is based on a variety of sources:
government documents, published books and essays, archival collections, U.S. Census
population reports, and newspapers and other periodicals. As an expert in Mexican
American history I have appeared in a historical documentary film on Westward
Expansion and the U.S.—Mexico War. I have lectured at several universities across the
nation.

The ruling in the 1990 Garza v. Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors made
clear that the history of official and deliberate discrimination against ethnic
Mexicans/Latinos in Los Angeles County is long and varied and stretched back to the
19™ century when in the aftermath of the U.S.-Mexico War of 1846-48 the existing
Mexican inhabitants of the area were incorporated into the United States. This report
seeks to augment and amplify that argument by examining the history of official
discrimination in Los Angeles County from the nineteenth century to the present.
Although the Garza case facilitated the election of a Latina Los Angeles County Board of
Supervisor’s member (Gloria Molina), the institutionalized racism of the past has
“trickled down” to the present and ensures that that official discrimination against Latinos
in Los Angeles County continues.

Beginning with the January 1847 Treaty of Cahuenga, which ended the U.S.-
Mexico War in California in January 1847, and then through the Treaty of Guadalupe
Hidalgo, Mexicans were granted U.S. citizenship. The granting of American citizenship,
because of the stipulations of the 1790 U.S. Naturalization Act, which declared that only
whites could be U.S. citizens, in effect made Mexicans legally, but not socially white.

Given this distinction, Mexican Americans, as the 1954 U.S. Supreme Court case



Hernandez v. Texas would declare, were made into a class apart. Recent scholarship in
Mexican American history argues that ethnic Mexicans (that is Mexican Americans and
Mexican immigrants together) should be viewed as a race, rather than as an ethnic group.
This distinction is important for it helps us understand that the ethnic Mexicans as a
whole have not been allowed to assimilate into mainstream culture and instead are
viewed as different, not white, not black, but simply different (Gémez, 2007). These
notions of ethnic Mexicans as different, which is predicated on the notion that they
constitute a race helps us understand the long history of discrimination waged against
them. These historical conditions have guaranteed that in the present day racism has
taken the guise of common sense. Scholars Michael Omi and Howard Winant, argue that
racism occurs on the every-day level stemming from institutional circumstances that have
caused the conditions that allow for the continued discrimination of a group and thus it
appears that those conditions are “natural” and therefore to think in this manner is simply
common sense (Omi and Winant, 1994).

Common sense racism’s roots vis-a-vis Latinos can be found in the mid-19™
century. The first signs of ethnic Mexicans being treated as a race, and thus their unequal
conditions being naturalized in Los Angeles County, stem from California’s achievement
of statehood in 1850. California’s incorporation into the union stemmed from the rise in
the white population of the territory following the discovery of gold in 1848 and the
subsequent Gold Rush a year later. The Gold Rush set the foundation for California’s
development and guaranteed that ethnic Mexicans would be marginalized, and suffer
severe economic loss. Indeed, the era following the U.S.-Mexico War set the foundation

for the social, political, and economic incorporation of ethnic Mexicans into the nation.



Given the importance of this era, historians, including myself, have documented this
process of disenfranchisement in the era following the 1848 (Pitt, 1966; Griswold del
Castillo, 1979;Camarillo, 1979; Monroy, 1990; Almaguer, 1994; Haas, 1995; Deverell,
2004;Chévez, 2007). Despite the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo’s guarantee to uphold
ethnic Mexicans’ property rights, Congress approved the California Land Act of 1851,
which set up a commission to adjudicate land titles granted in the Spanish and Mexican
eras in the state. Targeted in this process was land throughout present-day Los Angeles
that is presently prime real estate. Spanish-Speaking landowners had to prove title to
their property and deal with an unfamiliar U.S. legal system. Consequently they hired
American attorneys and although 2/3s of the land titles were upheld, ethnic Mexican
landowners were forced to sell their land to pay legal fees and comply with usurious
taxes. They subsequently loss more land to American squatters and floods and droughts
added to their woes. The loss of their land guaranteed that ethnic Mexicans would
decline into poverty and become largely excluded from political participation in the
following decades (Griswold del Castillo, 1979).

Although the loss of political power was a statewide phenomenon, in the City of
Los Angeles Mexicans were disenfranchised despite the fact that they constituted 20% of
the voters in the city. This political marginalization was the result of the 1880 Anglo
instituted discriminatory ward-based electoral system that fragmented Mexican
Americans into several wards and thus dissipated their power in citywide elections,
putting the nail in the coffin of Mexican American political power in Los Angeles and

ensuring that Cristobal Aguilar became the last ethnic Mexican mayor until 2005. In the



same decade Julian Chavez would become the last Mexican American member of the Los
Angeles County Board of Supervisors for 115 years (Griswold del Castillo, 1979).

The loss of political power was coupled with the criminalization of Mexican
Americans. This was most evident in the beginning of the American period when in
1855 the California legislature passed several laws aimed at controlling ethnic Mexican
customs and leisure activities. Among these was a “Sunday Law,” which imposed fines
from ten to fifty dollars for engaging in “barbarous or noisy amusements” including
bullfights, horse races, and cockfights. In 1860 the City of Los Angeles added to these
regulations by passing a law restricting fiestas. California’s legislature also passed a
thinly veiled anti-vagrancy statute, popularly known as the “Greaser Law,” which
targeted unemployed Mexicans, who at the discretion of local law authorities could be
called vagrants. These laws were a result of the ascendency of the Know Nothing Party
in Northern California and its ability to control state politics and in turn usher in a new
era of discrimination against Mexican Americans and made clear to them that they did
not have equal protection under the law (Griswold del Castillo, 1979).

The legal system was also stacked against ethnic Mexicans in this era. There was
a lack of competent Spanish-Speaking lawyers and jurors in Los Angeles, which made
true justice hard to come by for ethnic Mexicans. Although interpreters were appointed
to remedy this situation, their interpretations were usually distorted and biased. Adding
to this judicial unresponsiveness vis-a-vis ethnic Mexicans was the fact that from 1887
and 1900 out of the 194 men admitted to the state bar only 3 were Spanish-surnamed.
This paucity of attorneys to serve the ethnic Mexican community resulted in a high

conviction rate for this group. For example, in 1856 more than half of those sentenced for



major crimes in Los Angeles were Spanish surnamed. From 1887 to 1890, although
ethnic Mexicans represented 19 percent of the Los Angeles’s population, they comprised
22 percent of those convicted for federal crimes in the District Court for the city.
Mexicans in Los Angeles County alone comprised almost 30 percent of those convicted
of criminal offenses in 1887. In addition, between 1854 and 1870 thirty-seven lynchings,
mostly of Mexicans and some African Americans, occurred in Los Angeles. These
discriminatory practices are made clear when we compared the discrepancy in terms of
sentencing. An 1887 edition of Spanish-language newspaper El Echo de la Patria
reported that an Anglo who was convicted of murdering an ethnic Mexican was
sentenced to one year in jail and eventually only served 70 days, while in the same year a
Mexican-American convicted of disorderly conduct was given a 90-day jail term
(Griswold del Castillo, 1979).

This discriminatory terrain would be in place in the early 20" century when the
turmoil of the Mexican Revolution coupled with the growth of economic opportunities in
transportation, manufacturing and agriculture ensured the massive migration of a
Mexican-origin population to Los Angeles. By 1928 the city would hold the largest
ethnic Mexican population outside of Mexico City (Sadnchez, 1993). Yet there was a high
turnover of Mexican laborers in Los Angeles due to low wages, high cost of living,
discrimination, and excessive competition for jobs. Employment opportunities in the
skilled trades and professions proved scare for the first-second, and third generation of
Mexican laborers in Los Angeles. There was little social mobility for this group. A 1920
study by USC Sociologist Emory Bogardus showed that in 1917-1918 nearly 90 percent

of third-generation Mexican Americans were employed as blue-collar workers in Los



Angeles. This lack of social mobility was compounded by the presence of negative
stereotypes and prejudice against ethnic Mexicans in this period. In the 1920s employers
viewed Latinos as menial laborers incapable of doing work that required skill or
intelligence (Romo, 1983).

Racial bigotry against ethnic Mexicans in Los Angeles was rampant and led to
them being viewed as a “problem” to be solved through the use of discriminatory
practices in all sectors of Los Angeles County. Historian George Sanchez argues that if
one would measure the quality of life in Los Angeles for Mexicans in this era using
housing conditions and health it would be poor. Most Mexicans lived as best they could
given their poverty, single Mexican men rented a single bed in a larger house, while the
most common dwelling place for families was the house court, dubbed the “cholo court”
because of the high rate of Mexicans dwelling there, which ensured that they would
become the target of investigation by the Los Angeles City Housing Commission. One
observer likened these housing units to “stalls for cattle instead of homes for humans”
(Sanchez, 1993).

One such housing court provides a telling example for the conditions there. Fifty-
five people lived there, sharing three toilets each for men and women, along with
hydrants that were used as sinks. Families composed of three to six members filled the
nineteen occupied homes. The men who lived at this particular housing court at 742 New
High Street, near the Los Angeles Plaza, earned $1.50 to $2.50 working manual labor
jobs. The construction of the Civic Center and Union Station soon caused a rise in rents
and more poor Mexicans sought dwellings beyond the city limits in unincoporated East

Los Angeles. Most of the new immigrants moved to the Belvedere section of Los



Angeles County because it was planned for single family residences, yet given that it was
situated outside of the city limits, developers were able to ignore city ordinances
concerning sanitation and overcrowding, building three shacks on one single lot, and
making for high population density. This ensured poor light, ventilation and plumbing.
In addition to houses, gas works, soap factories, and meat packing plants soon were
established there, adjacent to dwellings, guaranteeing noxious odors and pollution. Even
if they could afford to live in other places restrictive housing covenants, which allowed
only whites to live in some areas (including Compton, Whittier, and many other places)
prevented Mexicans from living in other parts of Los Angeles County. These restrictions
existed well into mid-century and increased over time. A 1946 report to the Los Angeles
County Board of Supervisors informed it that municipalities with restrictive covenants
excluding Mexicans, Africans Americans, and Asians had increased from twenty percent
in 1920 to eighty percent by the mid 1940s (Sanchez, 1993).

With the start of the Great Depression in 1929, the era of massive migration to
Los Angeles gave way to efforts to rid the area of ethnic Mexicans and engendered
numerous discriminatory practices. Most employers looked upon Mexicans as cheap
labor and the economic hard times caused jobs to dry up. In response to the economic
crisis, the California state legislature passed the 1931 Alien Labor Act making it illegal
for any company doing business with the government to employ “aliens” on public jobs.
It was estimated that this law immediately excluded 900 Mexicans from work in Los
Angeles, causing many of them to seek help from public and private charities. Aimed at
non-citizens, the law opened the door for discrimination against American-born citizens

of Mexican descent, as it was hard to distinguish between the two groups (this was in the



era before Social Security cards and other documents used to identify citizens).
Angelenos decided to solve the unemployment problem by implementing a
repatriation/deportation program designed to send Mexicans back to their homeland
(Sanchez, 1993).

Local officials, the business community, and federal authorities in the Labor
Department worked together to initiate the program to rid the nation of ethnic Mexicans,
promising to send 400,000 south of the border. Los Angeles officials were more than
willing to help this effort. This led to a high-profile sweep of the Plaza district in
February 1931, which resulted in the round up of four hundred people being detained and
seventeen people being taken into custody. Although only 300 Mexican aliens were
actually deported during the entire campaign, these actions scared the ethnic Mexican
community and encouraged Mexicans of varying legal status and nationality (including
American-born citizens of Mexican descent) to consider leaving Los Angeles (Sanchez,
1993).

In an effort to help things along Los Angeles County officials targeted those
Mexicans on relief and initiated a program to pay their train passage to Mexico. The first
train of Los Angeles County-sponsored repatriates left Los Angeles in March 1931.
Despite news that the situation for repatriates was dire in their homeland and much worst
than in the United States, county officials continued to promote the program and
continued to send an average of 908 people in two month intervals to Mexico. Numbers
declined in August 1933, with the train bound for Mexico that month only containing 453
people, and numbers dwindled after that, which led to the program’s eventual end in May

1934 after fifteen shipments (Sanchez, 1993). Repatriation’s major outcome was to



silence the Mexican immigrant generation in the city and with the construction of Union
Station in downtown, the ethnic Mexican population was displaced from the city’s center
and moved into East Los Angeles, which in turn increased residential segregation and
decreased inter-ethnic contact. Thus, local officials’ discriminatory practices designed to
rid Los Angeles of its ethnic Mexican population resulted in this group becoming an
“invisible minority” (Sanchez, 1993).

During the Second World War this “invisible minority” would soon become quite
visible in the eyes of mainstream Los Angeles as Mexican American youths, in an effort
to forge their own cultural styles in the city, soon became the targets of violence. As a
means of self-expression Mexican American males —as did African American and
Filipino youngsters—donned the fabled zoot suit with its broad-brimmed hat, long jacket,
and draped trousers tapered at the ankles. Given the War Production Board’s March
1942 regulations for wartime manufacture of streamlined suits with minimal fabric, the
zoot suit and those who wore it were soon viewed as un-American and became targets of
discrimination (Sanchez, 1993).

Two interrelated events serve as examples of the intense racism against Mexicans
in Los Angeles in this era, the murder of José¢ Diaz and the subsequent Sleepy Lagoon
Trial and the Zoot Suit Riots. Following Diaz’s death the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s
Department rounded up members of the 38" Street Club and accused them of killing the
young man despite not knowing for certain the cause or manner of this death. The only
thing that linked Diaz and the club members was that they had both attended the same
party at the Williams Ranch, site of the so-called Sleepy Lagoon, in present-day Bell,

California. However, the fact that the accused youths were Mexican American, working-
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class, and wore the zoot suit made them suspect. Law enforcement officials soon filed a
report to the Grand Jury declaring that Mexicans were inherently criminal and
biologically prone to violence. Following a trial full of irregularities, including not
allowing the young defendants to cut their hair or change their clothes, despite months in
jail, in January 1943 the 17 youths were found guilty of crimes ranging from assault to
first-degree murder (Sanchez, 1993).

The conviction of the Sleepy Lagoon defendants ensured that all Mexican
American youths would be viewed as a threat to the instability of Los Angeles. The Los
Angeles Times and other newspapers featured lurid accounts of alleged Mexican
American youth violence, replacing depictions of Japanese Americans as the enemy
within. These actions heightened tensions in the city and in June 1943 led to ten days of
violent clashes between Mexican American youths and Anglo servicemen, helped by
civilians, in what has come to be known as the Los Angeles Zoot Suit Riots. Sailors
grabbed one youth, Pedro Garcia, out of his aisle seat at the RKO theater in downtown,
he was taken out to the street, his clothes were then ripped off him and he was kicked,
beaten and left unconscious all while nearby policemen witnessed the incident. The
violence perpetrated against Garcia was only one of the many that occurred during this
time (Sanchez, 1993).

During the Postwar Era ethnic Mexicans in Los Angeles County faced continued
discrimination. Developers in this era refused to sell homes to Mexican Americans,
Japanese Americans, African Americans, and Jews in the City of Los Angeles. It was
only through the intervention of Edward Roybal, the city’s newly elected Mexican

American councilman, who was denied a home despite being a veteran and elected
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official, that the practice was ended within the city limits. It continued, however in other
parts of the county, until the 1960s. The housing discrimination that Roybal sought to
eliminate worsened, especially for the poor and minority groups during the postwar era
because of the surge in population. Taking advantage of federal funds for public housing,
the Los Angeles City Council authorized the City Housing Authority to build 10,000 low-
rent slum-clearance units. Before construction could start the national real estate lobby
derailed it and eventually through various legal maneuvers sanctioned by the city council,
the housing was never built. This action ensured that 65,888 substandard dwellings,
mostly occupied by the poor and members of minority groups, were left standing
(Chavez, 2002).

The effort to rid Los Angeles of substandard dwellings led to notions of urban
renewal that eventually displaced thousands of ethnic Mexicans and other poor people.
Among the targeted areas were Boyle Heights and Chavez Ravine, two neighborhoods
that had much in common: a poor ethnic Mexican population, substandard housing, and
little to no political clout in the city. Chavez Ravine was prime real estate that had been
targeted for public housing, but that fell through and the area reverted back to the City of
Los Angeles with the provision that the property must be for public use. At the same
time the Brooklyn Dodgers sought to move West and city council members decided to
lure them to Los Angeles by offering them 315-acre Chavez Ravine in exchange for the
team owned 9-acre Wrigley Field. The only obstacle remaining were the ethnic
Mexicans that comprised a majority of the ravine’s inhabitants. City officials decided that
they would move them by using eminent domain and subsidized land improvements,

mechanism that had been successfully used to remove the Bunker Hill inhabitants.
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Residents responded by organizing and collecting enough signatures to place a
referendum on the June 1958 ballot to revoke the contract with the Dodgers. Voters
sided with the Dodgers by a narrow margin and in March 1959 ravine residents were
given thirty days to vacate their dwellings. One elderly couple, the Arechigas, and their
extended family refused to leave their home and eventually the Los Angeles Superior
Court issued a writ of possession and Sheriff deputies evicted the family (Chavez, 2002).
Removal of ethnic Mexicans from their homes was a common occurrence in Los
Angeles in the 1950s as the city and county sought to modernize by building freeways
and in the process perpetrated environmental discrimination. The Golden State Freeway
(the present-day Interstate 5), first proposed in 1953 and completed three years later, cut
through the ethnic Mexican enclave of Boyle Heights with the Los Angeles City
Council’s endorsement despite residents and business leaders’ protests. Later in the 1950s
the Pomona Freeway (present-day California Highway 60) would dissect the ethnic
Mexican community of Belvedere in East Los Angeles (Chavez, 2002), located in an
unincorporated area of Los Angeles County, where residents had little access to elected
officials. Eventually four freeways would cut through ethnic Mexican neighborhoods
when the East Los Angeles Interchange, the busiest in the world, was completed in 1961.
Those ethnic Mexicans who were able to stay in their neighborhoods had to
contend with violence at the hands of those who were supposed to protect them: the Los
Angeles Police Department and the Los Angeles Sheriff’s Department. Three prominent
events of the early 1950s exemplify the kind of violence inflicted by law enforcement
officials on ethnic Mexicans: the “Santo Nifio 7,” “Rios-Ulloa,” and “Bloody Christmas”

incidents. The first involved member of the Catholic Youth Organization (CYO)
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sponsored basketball team who were suspected of stealing auto parts and who were
beaten at the University Police Station in 1950. The CYO and the Community Service
Organization (CSO) took legal action and eventually led to the charges being dropped. A
more prominent incident concerned Antonio Rios, the chair of the CSO, and a friend of
his, Alfred Ulloa. In January 1952, as Rios and Ulloa were emerging from a café in Boyle
Heights, they witnessed a struggle in which two men were beating a third. Rios told the
men to stop and then leaned they were vice-squad plainclothesmen, F.J. Najera and G.W.
Kellenberg. They were also obviously drunk and Rios accused them of drunkenness.
When additional police arrived on the scene, Rios asked them to arrest Najera and
Kellenberg, only to find himself and Ulloa taken to police headquarters at gunpoint.
Ordered to strip to their underwear, the two men were then beaten by Najera and
Kellenberg. Rios and Ulloa were eventually charged with interfering with officers. An
internal investigation into the matter followed, while the two men filed a civil suit against
the two officers and the city, which they eventually won (Chavez, 2002).

Still another infamous incident was the so-called “Bloody Christmas” episode in
1951. The case started out as a routine arrest on Christmas Eve 19510of six men: Danny
Rodela, Elias Rodela, Jack Wilson, William Wilson, Manuel Hernandez, and Raymond
Marquez. Brought before a judge, they were charged with battery and disturbing the
peace and convicted. However, during the course of the trial it was revealed that the
police had beat the six (along with a seventh man, Eddie Nora, who was not arrested).
Angered at the police abuse, which Judge Call described as “lawlessness” and “anarchy,”
the court overturned the convictions and the judge initiated a grand jury investigation

(Chavez, 2002).

14



The LAPD had no monopoly on brutality, as revealed in suits against Los Angeles
County Sheriff Eugene W. Biscailuz and his department. In May 1953 Maximo Bustillos
accused two deputy sheriffs of beating him en route to and in the East Los Angeles
sheriff’s substation. In September of the same year, David Hidalgo, a high student, filed a
civil suit against two deputies for an unprovoked beating. Hidalgo’s lawsuit resulted in
the first instance of officers being found guilty of “police brutality.” In a 1956 ruling,
the judge also found the defendants financially liable for the beatings, fining them $8
each as part of an overall $1,016 settlement. The Hidalgo experience encouraged other
Mexican immigrants and Mexican Americans to file suit when their civil rights were
violated (Chavez, 2002).

In the 1950s, as one can see, the official discrimination that Los Angeles County’s
ethnic Mexican population experienced manifested itself in all aspects of life, this
stemmed from their limited political power in this period. Throughout this era Edward
Roybal, who was elected to the Los Angeles City Council in 1949 to represent the 9™
District, and given that he was the sole elected official in Los Angeles of Mexican
descent, by default he became the representative for all ethnic Mexicans in the city, if not
the county, and in turn all Latinos were viewed as his constituents, and encompassed an
“imagined constituency.” These circumstances allowed his colleagues on the city council
to wipe their hands clean of the concerns of Latinos and guaranteed that Roybal received
correspondence from ethnic Mexicans asking for his help in a myriad of situations. His
popularity ensured his nomination to California lieutenant governor in 1954, a post for
which he ran unsuccessfully. In 1958 Roybal’s liberal politics and his pro-community

activism ensured his defeat when he vied for a seat on the Los Angeles County
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Supervisors. Controversy surrounded the upset. Though ahead in the early stages of vote
counting, he lost the election after four recounts and allegations of fraud. His opponent,
Ernesto Debs, a pro-business Los Angeles city councilman, was elected and the following
year, he and the other members of the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors
gerrymandered the supervisorial districts to dilute Mexican American political power (as
the Garza case would later make clear). Mexican Americans remembered this election for
decades. When Roybal was elected to Congress in 1962, his seat came up for grabs, and
given the shifting demographics in the district that were by this time 50 percent African
American, 35 percent Latino, and 15 percent Asian American, Gilbert Lindsay, a Black
aide to Supervisor Kenneth Hahn was appointed to his seat and the following year was
elected to the post. The council then reapportioned the districts, ensuring that the election
of three African Americans to that body would be possible, but that of Mexican
Americans impossible. Lindsay’s victory left Los Angeles with no Mexican American in
city government. Thus, by mid-1963 a power vacuum existed in Mexican-American
political circles in the city. “Today,” mourned the Mexican American newsletter Carta
Editorial, “the city founded by our ancestors does not have one Mexican American in
official capacity. La Reina de Los Angeles weeps” (Chavez, 2002).

By the early 1960s the ethnic Mexican population in Los Angeles County had
grown dramatically. The total population of Los Angeles County increased by 2,023,084
persons (50.4%) between 1950 and 1960 while the County's Spanish-surnamed
population increased by 289,102 persons (100.5%) between 1950 and 1960 (Garza v.
County of Los Angeles, 1990). Although their numbers had grown, ethnic Mexicans still

remained marginalized socially, economically, and politically. By the early 1960s, the
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lack of representation on the Los Angeles City Council and the County Board of
Supervisors ensured that Mexican American youths, calling themselves Chicanos, would
wage battles to combat subpar educational conditions, continuing poverty, and police
brutality in the 1960s and 1970s. Their efforts to dismantle official discrimination would
be met by severe repression on the part of law enforcement officials, both the Los
Angeles Police Department and the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department, that in
effect represented a rise in official discriminatory practices.

In March 1968 over 10,000 students at five East Los Angeles high schools walked
out of their class rooms to protest discriminatory practices there. The high percentage
(over 50 percent) of Mexican American high-school students forced to drop out of school
either through expulsion and transfers to other schools or because they had not been
taught to read and thus failed their classes led to this action. Overcrowding, dilapidated
buildings were endemic at Chicano schools, where teachers, a majority of whom were
Anglo (only 3 percent of the instructors and 1.3 percent of administrators had Spanish
surnames, some of whom were white women married to Latino men), often discriminated
against their Mexican-American students, calling them “dirty Mexicans” and encouraging
them to join the workforce rather than attend college. Angered by this treatment, students
demanded more Chicano teachers and administrators and better schools (Chavez, 2002).
When the students walked out of their classrooms the Los Angeles police officers and
Los Angeles County sheriff deputies overreacted, and brutally suppressed the uprising.
Although law enforcement authorities’ main target was the Brown Berets, a Chicano
paramilitary organization, and other activists, the students got caught in the melee. This

event led to the police and sheriff’s department in Los Angeles, as historian Rodolfo
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Acuiia has said, to “abandon reason in harassing, intimidating, and persecuting the Brown
Berets” and other Chicano activists (Acufia, 2011). Seven members of the Brown Berets
and six other Mexican Americans were later indicted on conspiracy charges stemming
from the walkouts. Eventually the charges the appellate court ruled the charges
unconstitutional, but only after years of harassment by the authorities (Acufia, 2011).
Police brutality against Chicanos—especially by the Los Angeles County
Sheriff’s Department-- emerged once again when Mexican Americans protested against
the disproportionate number—3 to 1-- of Spanish-surnamed casualties in the Vietnam
War during the Chicano Moratorium on August 29, 1970. The committee, bearing the
name of the protest they organized, argued that there was a war at home and that young
Chicano men needed to stay there to solve domestic problems rather than fight and die in
Southeast Asia. Part of this war at home was against police brutality and the
mistreatment of Mexican American inmates in city and county jails. A demonstration at
the East Los Angeles County Sheriff’s substation to protest the death of six Mexican
American men in the preceding five months, clashed with police. As the August 29 event
approached tensions between police and the Mexican Americans community increased.
On August 29, 30,000 people marched through the streets of East Los Angeles to protest
the war in Vietnam and conditions at home. Demonstrators reached the end of the route
at Laguna Park to begin a rally that included speakers and dance performances.
Unbeknownst to them a minor incident occurred at a liquor store adjacent to the park
when youths attempted to pilfer soft drinks, this occurrence caused the L.A. County
Sheriff’s Department to go into the store and then into the park where 1,200 deputies

broke up the rally by wielding clubs upon spectators, beating men, women, and children
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and throwing tear gas into the crowd. Mass arrests followed and three deaths occurred.
The most famous of those who died that day was Rubén Salazar, a reporter for the Los
Angeles Times and the news director of the KMEX, the city’s Spanish-language
television station, who was killed when a tear gas projector hit his head as he sat in a bar
to escape the melee. A Los Angeles County Coroner’s inquest later concluded that he
had died at the hands of another, but never officially charged anyone with his killing .
Salazar’s death became the ultimate symbol of police brutality and the Moratorium
Committee emphasized that issue over the war and changed directions. It sponsored
several other demonstrations against police actions throughout 1970 and into 1971; these
efforts were also met with violence by legal authorities and eventually caused the demise
of the group. The mantle of Chicano activism was taken on by other groups in the Los
Angeles area, among them La Raza Unida Party, a Mexican American third party, which
unsuccessfully sought to elect Latinos to office and, as a means to dodge the power of the
Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors, incorporate East Los Angeles (Chavez, 2002).
Violence inflicted upon the ethnic Mexican community in Los Angeles County during the
early to mid 1970s ensured that it would become more insular and was a reflection of
their powerlessness vis-a-vis the political process.

The lack of representation in the political process made ethnic Mexicans into a
powerless group in Los Angeles County as we can see with the violence inflicted upon
them by law enforcement authorities, but they also experienced civil rights violations in
places designed to heal them like the county medical hospital. In 1975 attorneys filed a
class-action suit (Madrigal v. Quillin) in the federal district court of Los Angeles naming

USC-Los Angeles County Medical Center, twelve doctors, the State of California, and
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the U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare as defendants as a result of their
engagement in the sterilization of ethnic Mexican women without their formal consent,
which constituted a violation of their civil rights. At the trial one doctor testified that the
women were given consent forms to sign while in labor and some did not understand
English and the motivating factor in the sterilizations was to limit population growth
because Latinas had too many babies, which in turn would put a strain on society. It was
clear that consent for the procedure was not freely given, nonetheless in 1978 the
presiding judge ruled in favor of the defendants concluding that the doctors acted in good
faith when they were performing the sterilization operation with the knowledge and
consent of each patient and that there was simply a cultural difference in the manner in
which Mexicans and Anglos viewed the size of families (this was clearly an instance of
common sense racism in operation). Although the plaintiffs lost the case the attention
brought greater attention to the matter and forced USC-Los Angeles County Medical
Center to change the manner in which it informed patients of sterilizations and sought
their consent (Gutiérrez, 2008). The Madrigal case is an instance of official
discrimination by Los Angeles County officials where ethnic Mexicans, having little
political power, relied on the legal system to remedy their circumstances and ultimately
the legal system failed them and in effect sanctioned the discrimination.

This lack of political power continued for ethnic Mexicans even though the Latino
population had grown. In 1980 it comprised 2 million of Los Angeles County’s 7.5, yet
the beginning of the decade there was still no Mexican American representation on the
Los Angeles City Council. It was not until 1986 that Richard Alatorre gained a seat on

the city council, yet this was a small victory. The year before the U.S. Department of
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Justice maintained that the City of Los Angeles purposefully denied the expansion of
Latino representation. After a lengthy process the city agreed to a reapportionment plan
in 1989 that allowed for the possibility for a Latino to win another seat on the council.
Yet the area that was reapportioned was only a small parcel of Los Angeles County as a
whole and powerlessness for ethnic Mexicans still existed.

The rise of the Mothers of East Los Angeles (MELA), a grassroots organization,
is evidence of ethnic Mexicans lack of power in Los Angeles County. The group first
formed in 1986 in response to the California Department of Corrections’, with the
support of Governor George Deukmejian, plan to build a prison in East Los Angeles.
Although not opposing the plan to build a prison in Los Angeles County, per se, the
MELA resented the implication that ethnic Mexicans were inherently criminal and
therefore a nearby prison in the area would facilitate families’ ability to visit what was
implied to be homegrown inmates. The MELA also argued that the prison should be
built in a place that was less dense than their community and not as close to schools.
With no support from the city or the county in their battle against the prison, they relied
on their sole political ally, California State Assemblywoman Gloria Molina, and the
Catholic Church. After a seven- year struggle, the Mothers of East Los Angeles were
able to stop the prison from being built, and also a proposed toxic waste incinerator. Both
proposals placed the burden of solving Los Angeles County’s trash-disposal and prison
problems on the Eastside community, and in effect, given the population, on ethnic
Mexican residents (Pardo, 1998). The Mothers of East Los Angeles’ actions, and their
need to take matters into their own hands ultimately show us that the County of Los

Angeles was unresponsive to the needs of ethnic Mexicans and poorly serving them.
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The early 1990s witnessed a victory for ethnic Mexicans when the Garza v.
Supervisor of the County of Los Angeles case made clear that the 1981 redistricting plan
adopted by the Board of Supervisors violated Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act and the
equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Garza’s outcome led to the
redistricting of the supervisorial districts and facilitated the election of a Latina Board of
Supervisors member, Gloria Molina. Her election, as the past twenty years have shown,
was a milestone, but given the growing Latino demographics of the city Molina quickly
emerged as the Edward Roybal of her time. Like the former Los Angeles City
Councilman, Molina, as the only Latina member of the Board of Supervisors, by default
became the representative for all Latinos in the county—beyond her actual district-- and
the person held responsible for all the concerns of this “imagined constituency.”

Despite Molina’s ascendency to the Board of Supervisors, there still remained a
large number of Latinos in Los Angeles County who remained untouched by electoral
politics and for whom electoral victories meant little in the face of growing poverty. Of
course the election of a Latina to the board did not mean that police brutality had ended
in the city, as the LAPD showed in the infamous Rodney King beating. Less than a
month after Molina became a supervisor, police officers stopped King after a high speed
chase and proceeded to hit the 25-year old King with their batons a total of fifty-six
times. Although King was African American and the looting and violence that occurred
in the aftermath of the April 1992 verdict that acquitted his attackers, involved mostly
Blacks, the incident showed the fracturing of Los Angeles and pointed to income
inequality that existed in the county as a whole. Rather than taking place in East Los

Angeles or Wilmington, established ethnic Mexican neighborhoods, the looting that
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involved Latinos occurred in South Los Angeles and the Pico-Union district, which were
primarily composed of recent immigrants (and a mix of Mexicans and Central
Americans). Of the 15,000 arrested, 1,200 were undocumented. (George Ramos and
Tracy Wilkonson, 1992). These incidents made clear the fact that some Latinos felt
marginalized, to say the least, and public officials seemed unresponsive and oblivious to
their needs.

That the County of Los Angeles responded to ethnic Mexicans and other Latinos
in a negative manner became clear through the Kolts Commission (modeled after the
Christopher Commission, which investigated the LAPD in the aftermath of the Los
Angeles uprisings) investigation of the Sheriff’s Department in 1992. The commission
examined 124 civil suits and 800 internal investigations, in addition to training and
disciplinary procedures, and described the department as a place where discipline and
oversight had broken down. It also reported that supervisors routinely tolerated abuse of
suspects and prisoners, particularly Latinos and Blacks. In addition, the report criticized
the department for a lack of Latino and Spanish-speaking deputies and called for civilian
participation in the review oversight of the Sheriff. As the report said, “We know of no
major metropolitan police department in the nation that is not subject to some civilian
oversight—except the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department” (Acufia, 1999).

Ethnic Mexicans continued to face discrimination in the 1990s in Los Angeles
County; perhaps the most potent symbols of this climate were the struggles surrounding
Propositions 187 and 209. Although Proposition 187 was aimed at denying health and
educational services to undocumented immigrants, most Latinos saw the potential threat

to all of their brethren regardless of citizenship status. This fear prompted Latinos to take
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to the streets in protests. Many Latinos were alarmed by the racist tone of the anti-
immigrant rhetoric. Despite these concerns the measure passed, but most of the
provisions were later declared unconstitutional, however the debate over the law made
clear the unwelcomed climate of the era. In the meantime, in November 1994, in
response to the proposition’s passage Supervisor Molina suggested that the Los Angeles
County Board of Supervisors direct the county counsel to prepare a notice for distribution
to county employees and the public to identify which provisions of the proposition the
county would delay in implementing until Governor Pete Wilson issued guidelines for its
enactment (Board of Supervisors, 1994).

Two years later, Proposition 209, the so-called “California Civil Rights
Initiative”, which in reality was an anti-affirmative action measure, passed, making as
historian Rodolfo Acufia has observed, “anti-discrimination laws moot” (Acuia, 2011).
Prior to its passage, in July 1996 when the initiative was placed on the ballot, Supervisor
Yvonne Brathwaite Burke suggested that the Board of Supervisors reaffirm its
commitment to affirmative action and go on record opposing the proposed measure. The
Board of Supervisors eventually voted 3 to 1 (with Supervisor Dean Dana abstaining
from voting and Supervisor Mike Antonovich voting against the proposal) to oppose the
initiative (Board of Supervisors, 1996). As the above makes clear, in both instances it
was through the intervention of “minority” members that the Board of Supervisors was
prompted to take action in response to the propositions that would most affect Los
Angeles County’s Latino and African American population, despite the opposition of two

white supervisors. Without the presence of Supervisors Molina and Burke it is doubtful
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that the board would have thought of being responsive to the needs of the majority of Los
Angeles County.

Supervisor Molina’s intervention was clearly seen during the building of the new
Los Angeles County-University of Southern California Medical Center. Immediately
after being sworn in to office Supervisor Molina requested a full report on the proposed
replacement of the county facility. Once she received information on the prohibitive
costs to refurbish the building to bring it into safety compliance and meet seismic
standards, in Spring 1991 Supervisor Molina supported building a 946 bed facility near
the site of the current 800-bed hospital in Boyle Heights and an additional medical center
in the San Gabriel Valley (which had been previously proposed and was never built due
to community opposition). In order to build the facility 77 families needed to be
relocated and thus in the summer of 1991 Supervisor Molina walked door-to-door in the
community adjacent to LAC-USC medical center in order to gauge how the community
would respond. Her office also initiated a series of community meetings and negotiated
with Los Angeles County to ensure that residents would be fairly relocated. As a result an
overwhelming majority of residents agreed to be relocated. While plans continued for the
facility, the 1994 Northridge earthquake exacerbated the need for a new hospital.
However, planning for the medical center were put on hold the following year when Los
Angeles County faced a billion dollar deficit (its largest ever), stemming from the state’s
financial problems. This crisis created a $665 million shortfall in county health services
and the closing of the LAC-USC Medical Center was proposed. In light of this financial
disaster, Supervisor Molina once again intervened. She approached the Clinton

Administration and was able to obtain $364 million from the federal government through
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the 1115 waiver. This action allowed for the LAC-USC Medical Center replacement
facility to be reinstituted and in 1996 Mark Finucane was appointed director of the Los
Angeles County Department of Health Services and soon recommended that the new
medical center be reduced from its original 946 to 750 beds. Following Finucane’s
recommendation and that of independent expert studies. Supervisor Molina supported
this plan and she, along with federal elected officials, held community forums to inform
the public on the need to replace LAC-USC Medical Center with a 750-bed facility.
However when the Board of Supervisors met to consider options for the new hospital, the
other four members, despite hearing comments from 80 speakers in support of a 750
facility, voted to build a 600-bed hospital, contingent on receiving California SB 1732
funding. If this funding was not available, the four supervisors voted to build a 500-bed
facility (LAC-USC Replacement Project Chronology).

Despite enormous community support for the 750-bed facility, Supervisors
Yaroslavsky, Antonovich, and Knabe continued to undermine its construction. In 1998
after Latino/a elected officials in the California legislature secured over $250 million in
state funding via SB1573 for a 750-bed medical center, Yaroslavsky, Antonovich, and
Knabe passed a motion requesting that Governor Wilson veto SB 1573, which he
promptly did. Consequently, he Board of Supervisors then once again approved a 600-
bed facility, with a provision to build an additional 150-bed hospital, if the current
medical center maintained a daily census of at least 770 patients for the next three years
and it received more state or federal financial assistance (LAC-USC Replacement Project

Chronology).
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In the ensuing years Supervisor Molina attempted to make her colleagues more
responsive to the needs of poor people in Los Angeles County, by proposing several
motions that would in effect put funding for other county facilities on hold (most notably
Disney Hall) until monies were secure for the 750-bed facility. However, Supervisor
Molina was outvoted at each turn with the result being that when the facility was finally
completed in November 2008, its 600 beds proved insufficient (USC-LAC Replacement
Project Chronology). Although her election to the Board of Supervisors was hailed as a
victory for Latinos as a whole and a new era in Los Angeles County politics, which
indeed it was, the reality was that she was easily outvoted by the three white men on the
board who in this matter actively worked to deny services to poor people, the majority of
whom are black and Latino.

In the period since 2000 discrimination against Latinos in Los Angeles County
has continued perhaps in less dramatic, yet potent ways. That Latinos remained alienated
from the political process was made clear in a 2002 report by the Pew Hispanic Center.
As it said, “The nation’s 35 million Hispanics comprise nearly 13 percent of the
population. However, there are a far smaller number of Hispanic voters. In the November
2002 election, an estimated 5.9 million Latino voted, comprising 5 percent of the total
vote” (Acuna, 2011). The discrimination against Latinos, especially ethnic Mexicans,
was heightened in the wake of 9-11. With the creation of the Department of Homeland
Security and the merger of the U.S. Customs Service and the Immigration and
Naturalization Service to create Immigration, Customs and Enforcement (ICE), the
federal government heightened its efforts to control the U.S.-Mexico border and in the

process Latinos became further criminalized. These changes impacted Los Angeles
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County immensely given that it has the largest population of Latinos, especially ethnic
Mexicans, in the nation.

This new environment of heightened security impacted the Los Angeles County
Sheriff’s Department. In July 2004, Sheriff Lee Baca proposed the adoption of a
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), a written agreement between ICE and his
department in an effort to streamline the process by which the latter could more easily put
into operation section 287 (g) of the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1996, as
amended by the Homeland Security Act of 2002. Specifically, 287 (g) authorizes the
Secretary of Homeland Security to enter into written agreements with a state or other
political subdivisions in order for qualified personnel to perform certain functions of an
immigration officer. Primarily this entails local authorities identifying undocumented
“aliens” who have committed crimes and report them to ICE. This proposed MOU would
allow ICE to train six custody assistant personnel to conduct interviews of in custody
inmates at the inmate reception center to determine if they were criminal “illegal aliens or
deportable under federal statutes.” Although at first glance the proposed MOU seemed to
be aimed at speeding the process by which the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department
could partner with ICE in a pilot training program, upon further scrutiny it presented
several problems including the fact that some of the undocumented detainees could be
proven innocent of the accused crime and still face deportation. Citing this problem, at
its January 2005 meeting to discuss the matter, Supervisor Yaroslavsky amended the
MOU so that the interviewing of inmates could only occur after conviction, and only then
would information be disseminated to federal authorities. However as meeting attendee

Araceli Perez, representing the Mexican American Legal Defense and Educational Fund
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(MALDEF), stated, the amended MOU still set the dangerous precedent of “mixing
immigration law with local [law] enforcement of any sort.” Along with MALDEF many
other members of the Latino community expressed their opposition to the MOU,
especially because it blurred the line between federal and local jurisdictions, given that
immigration control was solely the domain of the federal government. Also, as
Supervisor Molina, once again speaking on behalf of the Latino community as its only
voice on the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors said, “I don’t know when it’s
going to be convenient for them [ICE] to start asking our nurses to carry out the same
work. I don’t when it’s going to be convenient to ask our mental health people to carry
out that same work.” She continued, “But I worry when we start asking our mental health
workers, our social workers, our teachers, or our medical personnel to become part of the
federal government to ask those questions for a department that is fully and completely
funded that should be carrying out that work every single day, but I think it fuzzes the
line.” Ultimately Supervisor Molina objected to the MOU because she believed that it
was wrong for the Los Angeles County government to carry out the duties of the federal
government. However when the vote on the MOU was called she, along with Supervisor
Burke, dissented and once again Supervisors Yaroslavsky, Kanabe, and Antonovich (the
three white men on the board) voted in favor of the adoption of the MOU (BOS minutes,
2005).

Although the Board of Supervisors approved the MOU, Gloria Molina was able to
intervene and initially one of her staffer was allowed to oversee the pilot training program
(which was suspended for a bit when Molina’s office requested that a MALDEF

representative be allowed to witness the training, at which time ICE objected). In a
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February 2007 memo to the Board of Supervisors, Los Angeles County Chief
Administrative Officer David E. Janssen stated that ultimately the goal of the program
was to reduce costs “associated with recidivism by criminal illegal aliens and jail
overcrowding,” but he never stated the actual amount of money that the program saved
the county, just the potential cost savings (Janssen, 2007). The discussion of the MOU
once again showed the continued insensitivity of the Los Angeles County Board of
Supervisors vis-a-vis the Latino community and the limited power that Supervisor
Molina has on that body.

The unresponsiveness of Los Angeles County to its Latino community, which
constitutes over 47% of its population, 33% of which is of voting age, is evident in the
continued destruction of neighborhoods in East Los Angeles. As shown above, in the
1950s the freeways went through ethnic Mexican neighborhoods and they still dissect
those living spaces. Augmenting this fissure is the Metro Gold Line extension, which
except for a short 1.7-mile underground portion is a light rail system that travels through
First, Indiana, and Third Streets in Boyle Heights and unincorporated East Los Angeles.
The fact that the Gold Line does not go underground stems from several factors. The
first was the 1985 methane gas explosion in Hollywood, during the construction of the
Red Line, and the appearance of a sinkhole ten years later while work was done on the
same line, which made officials question the safety of tunneling to construct subways.
This fear of greater dangers led U.S. Representative Henry Waxman to sponsor
legislation banning the use of federal monies for subway construction. The second, and
more direct reason why the Gold Line extension was built above ground, was the 1998

passage of Proposition A, sponsored by Supervisor Yaroslavsky. This initiative banned
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the use of Los Angeles County tax revenue for subway tunneling. However, this climate
of fear receded in the 2000s, and Westsiders pressed for a subway to ease the traffic
congestion along Wilshire Boulevard. Seeing an opportunity to gain important support
from Westside residents, in 2005 when Antonio Villaraigosa ran for mayor, his platform
included the building of “a subway to the sea” (MacDonald, 2010). In that same year
Congressman Waxman changed his position on the subway tunneling issue, declared that
tunneling was now safe, and sponsored legislation to overturn the previous ban. Not only
did Waxman have a change of heart on tunneling, but so too did Supervisor Yaroslavsky,
who in 2008 sponsored a new sales tax measure, Measure R. Supervisor Molina on the
other hand, viewed Measure R as inequitable and poorly conceived. Ata Board of
Supervisors meeting in October 2008 she called for that body to fund the construction of
four-crossing quadrant gates at every place that the Gold Line would stop. Supervisor
Yaroslavsky objected to this proposal citing the costs, prompting Molina to remind her
colleague that the Gold Line should have been a subway, but because Yaroslavsky killed
the project it was not. Supervisor Molina, acting once again as the voice of the Latino
community in Los Angeles County, said, “I get tired of being shortchanged on the
Eastside on some basic stuff." She continued, "If this board can't move forward on ...
safety, I'm shocked." Yaroslavsky responded to Molina in a nasty and dismissive
manner, saying, "Supervisor Molina, you and every other member of the Board voted for
this line. You voted for it.” He continued, "Don't make this a holier than thou safety
issue” (Hymon, 2008). Yaroslavsky’s comments were not only disrespectful to Molina,
but to the entire Latino community of Los Angeles County and once again shows how the

board is unresponsive to this population’s needs.
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The proceedings over Measure R, and the Gold Line’s disruption of East Los
Angeles neighborhoods, is yet another example of the ongoing official discrimination
against Latinos that exist in Los Angeles County and is waged by county officials.
Yaroslavsky’s comments can be read as an instance of common sense racism that is
prevalent in the county. Thus, it may appear that there is no ongoing discrimination
against Latinos in the present-day, but in reality there has been a “trickle down racism”
that is part and parcel of our understanding of certain groups and given the history of
Latinos in Los Angeles County it is present at every turn in this group’s experience and
makes its members view elected official with suspicion.

Rather than relying on elected officials to help them, poor Latinos have relied on
grass-roots organization for aid. Key among these groups in the present has been the Bus
Riders Union, formed in 1992, whose concern has been racial discrimination policies in
the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority (LACMTA). In 1996 it
filed a civil rights suit against the LACMTA arguing that the agency was using
disproportionately more of its federal funds on the suburban-oriented rail service and its
wealthier (and whiter) ridership, at the same time as it was spending disproportionately
less on the bus system and its much larger, lower-income ridership, predominantly made
up of minorities, including Latinos. This action resulted in a ten-year consent agreement
that mandated federal oversight of the LACMTA. Once the agreement expired in 2006
the Bus Riders Union filed a complaint that instituted an investigation of the agency that
is to begin in July 2011. In May 2006 the group launched its Great American Boycott
demonstration. It also is advocating that there be less policing throughout the city because

of past abuses by law enforcement officials. The persistence of discrimination and the
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unresponsiveness of the political process in Los Angeles County are evident through the
Bus Riders Union continued work that uses litigation to try to have its grievances
addressed (Marks, Gerin, Armstrong, 2004; Mascaro, 2005). Currently (July 2011), the
Bus Riders union is bringing to the forefront the discrimination against domestic workers,
mostly Latinas, through the LACMTA’s elimination of bus line 305, which goes from
Watts to Westwood (Medina, 2011).

The 1990 Garza v. County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors made clear that
up to that time there had been a historically and continuous official discrimination in Los
Angeles County stretching back to the establishment of the Los Angeles County Board of
Supervisors in 1852. Although Garza resulted in the redistricting of Los Angeles County
and facilitated the election of a Latina, Gloria Molina, to the Board of Supervisors, she is
but one voice on this body and as the above shows she is continuously outvoted on key
issues relating to Latinos. Thus, there continues to be official discrimination in Los
Angeles County and unresponsiveness by the political process that has often forced
ethnic Mexicans/Latinos to seek redress through grass-roots efforts, demonstrations, and
the courts. The residue of this official discrimination continues to hinder the ability of
Latinos to use the political process to resolve their unequal status in all aspects of life in
Los Angeles County. This institutional discrimination, which is part of the historical
memory of Latinos in Los Angeles County, and allows for common sense racism, has
ensured that they remain a marginalized group whose large population has not guaranteed
access to, or active participation, vis-a-vis the mechanisms of power in Los Angles
County. Only by addressing ethnic Mexicans/Latinos access to the political process and

ensuring that representation on the Los Angeles County of Supervisors is present and
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enhanced can this group be full participants in the life of Los Angeles County, reach its
full potential as active and contributing members of society, and engage the democratic
process that is guaranteed to them under the U.S. Constitution and has been secured

through the Voting Rights Act of 1965.
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